International Journal of Food, Nutrition and Dietetics

Editor-in-Chief

Balwinder Sadana College of Home Science, Punjab Agricultural University Ludhiana

National Editorial Board

Alok Jha, Instt of Ag. Sciences, BHU, Varanasi P. Banumathi, TN Agri University, Madurai Anil Kumar, J. N. Medical College, AMU, Aligarh P. Pandit, Navsari Agri University, Navasari Ashish Kumar Singh, NDRI, Karnal P.C. Vyas, Dr.S. N. Medical College, Jodhpur D. R. Salomi Suneetha, HCRI, West Godavari P.J. Rathod, Junagadh Agri University, Junagadh F. Ali, T.M. Bhagalpur University, Bhagalpur Pradyuman Kumar, SLIET, Longowal G.B. Deshmukh, Nagpur Vet College, Nagpur R.H. Mandlecha, A.C.P.M. Medical College, Dhule Gulraj Kalsi Kohli, MDS University, Ajmer R.K. Sharma, SKUAST, Jammu Jamuna Prakash, University of Mysore, Mysore Ruma Bhattacharyya, Assam Agri Univ, Jorhat Jatindra K. Sshu, IICPT, Thanjavur S.S. Thorat, Mahatma PK Vidyapeeth, Rahuri K. Kulshrestha, GBP Univ of Ag & Tech, Pantnagar Salil Sehgal, CCSHAU, Hisar K.B. Kamaliya, Anand Agri University, Anand Sheela Sidharam, ANRAC, Gulbarga K.S. Minhas, Punjab Agri University, Ludhiana Uma Iyer, MS University of Baroda, Vadodara L. Vijayalekshmi, GMC, Thiruvananthapuram V.K. Joshi, Dr. YSP Univ of Horti & Forestry, Solan Latha Sabikhi, NDRI, Karnal Vandana Bharti, Govt. New GDC P.G. Colle, Indore Om Prakash Chauhan, DFRL, Mysore Vijay Kumar M, KVAFSU, Bidar P. Agarwal, OUAT, Bhubaneswar Vijaya M. Nalwade, MKrishi Vidyapeeth, Prabhani

Managing Editor: A. Lal

International Journal of Food, Nutrition & Dietetics (IJFND) (ISSN 2322-0775), a broad-based peer-reviewed journal publish the most exciting researches with respect to the subjects of nutrition and food sciences. The journal covers current thinking on food and nutrition emphasizing the practical and social application of ideas. Special editions focusing on topics including micronutrients, special diets for management of health problems and cost sector catering provide readable content that is an invaluable resource for practitioners and academics wishing to inform themselves, their colleagues, or the public on modern thinking, research, and attitudes to food and nutrition.

Readership: Academics and researchers in the field, Dietitians, Food company managers, Food research institutes, Health care professionals, Nutritionists

Indexing Information: ProQuest, USA, Genamics JournalSeek.

For all other quiries Red Flower Publication Pvt. Ltd., 48/41-42, DSIDC, Pocket-II, Mayur Vihar Phase-I, Delhi - 110 091 (India), Phone: 91-11-22754205, Fax: 91-11-22754205, E-mail: redflowerppl@vsnl.net, Web:www.rfppl.com

Printed at Saujanya Printing Press, D-47, Okhla Industrial Area, Phase-1, New Delhi - 110 020.

Disclaimer The opinion in this publication is those of the authors and is not necessarily those of the International Physiology the Editor-in-Chief and Editorial Board. Appearance of an advertisement does not indicate International Physiology approval of the product or service.

[©] Red Flower Publication Pvt. Ltd. 2013 (year of first publication) all rights reserved. No part of the journal may be reproduce, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, without prior permission of the New Indian Journal of Surgery.

International Journal of Food, Nutrition & Dietetics (IJFND) (ISSN 2322-0775), a broad-based peer-reviewed journal publish the most exciting researches with respect to the subjects of nutrition and food sciences. The journal covers current thinking on food and nutrition emphasizing the practical and social application of ideas. Special editions focusing on topics including micronutrients, special diets for management of health problems and cost sector catering provide readable content that is an invaluable resource for practitioners and academics wishing to inform themselves, their colleagues, or the public on modern thinking, research, and attitudes to food and nutrition.

Readership: Academics and researchers in the field, Dietitians, Food company managers, Food research institutes, Health care professionals, Nutritionists

Indexing Information: ProQuest, USA, Genamics JournalSeek.

Subscription Information

India	
Individual	
1 year	Rs.1000
Life Subscription (Valid for 10 Years)	Rs.5000
Institutional (1 year)	Rs.38000

Rest of the World

Individual (1 year) USD100 Insitutional (1 year) USD900

PAYMENT METHOD

By cheque/Demand Draft:

Cheque should be in the name of Red Flower Publication Pvt. Ltd. payable at Delhi.

By Bank Transfer/TT: Bank name: Bank of India Swift Code: BKIDINBBDOS Account Name: Red Flower Publication Pvt. Ltd. Account Number: 604320110000467 Branch: Mayur Vihar Phase-I Delhi – 110 091 (India)

Send all Orders to: **Red Flower Publication Pvt. Ltd.,** 41/48, DSIDC, Pocket-II, Mayur Vihar Phase-I, Delhi – 110 091, India, Phone: 91-11-22754205, Fax: 91-11-22754205, E-mail: redflowerppl@vsnl.net, Website: www.rfppl.com.

International Journal of Food, Nutrition and Dietetics

Volume 1 Number 2 May - August 2013

Contents

Original Article	
Nutritional Status and Dietary Pattern of Iranian's Residing in Mysore	45
Abdol Hossein Azimi, Jamuna Prakash, Prabhavathi S.N.	
Bye Bye Junk Food	55
Sunil Mhaske, Parth Patel	
Corrosive Acid: An Uncommon Suicidal Poison	57
Vinod Kumar Garg, Ramakant Verma, Shailender Kumar, P.C. Vyas	
Impact of Nutrition Education of Parents of Preschool Children on Quality	
of Packed School Lunch	61
Deepa Prakash, Shilpa M.S., Jamuna Prakash	
Letter to Editor	
Fat, Hyperlipidemia and Hypercholesterolemia in Diabetic Peripheral	
Neuropathy	69
Kumar Senthil P., Adhikari Prabha, Jeganathan	
Guidelines for Authors	73

Title	Freequency	Rate (Rs): India	Rate (\$):ROW
Indian Journal of Agricultural and Forest Meteorology	3	21000	800
Indian Journal of Agriculture Business	3	11500	600
Indian Journal of Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environ	ment 3	18000	800
Indian Journal of Anatomy	2	3000	260
Indian Journal of Ancient Medicine and Yoga	4	6600	330
Indian Journal of Anesthesia and Analgesia	2	4000	600
Indian Journal of Animal Feed Science and Technology	3	22000	850
Indian Journal of Animal Reproduction Science	3	19000	700
Indian Journal of Cancer Education and Research	2	4500	500
Indian Journal of Dental Education	4	3000	288
Indian Journal of Emergency Pediatrics	4	6000	302
Indian Journal of Food Additives and Contaminants	3	28000	900
Indian Journal of Food and Chemical Toxicology	3	22000	800
Indian Journal of Food Chemistry	3	37000	1100
Indian Journal of Food Engineering	3	25000	800
Indian Journal of Forensic Medicine and Pathology	4	12000	576
Indian Journal of Forensic Odontology	4	3000	288
Indian Journal of Genetics and Molecular Research	2	4800	262
Indian Journal of Library and Information Science	3	7200	600
Indian Journal of Nutrition & Food Sciences	3	38000	900
Indian Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology	2	1500	200
Indian Journal of Pathology: Research and Practice	3	22000	915
Indian Journal of Pediatric Education	4	3000	150
Indian Journal of Plant and Soil	3	51000	1700
Indian Journal of Preventive Medicine	2	3000	270
Indian Journal of Soil Science	3	34000	1000
Indian Journal of Surgical Nursing	3	1450	70
International Journal of Neurology and Neurosurgery	2	7200	276
Journal of Human Nutrition and Dietetics	2	3000	270
Journal of Psychiatric Nursing	3	1450	70
Journal of Social Welfare and Management	4	6600	276
Meat Science International	3	20000	800
New Indian Journal of Surgery	4	6300	360
Physiotherapy and Occupational Therapy Journal	4	6600	360

Revised Rates for 2013 (Institutional)

1. Advance payment required by Demand Draft payable to Red Flower Publicaion Pvt. Ltd. payable at Delhi.

2. Cancellation not allowed except for duplicate payment.

3. Agents allowed 10% discount.

4. Claim must be made within six months from issue date.

Order from

Red Flower Publication Pvt. Ltd., 48/41-42, DSIDC, Pocket-II, Mayur Vihar Phase-I, Delhi - 110 091 (India), Tel: 91-11-22754205, 65270068, Fax: 91-11-22754205. E-mail: redflowerppl@vsnl.net, redflowerppl@gmail.com, Website: www.rfppl.com

Nutritional Status and Dietary Pattern of Iranian's Residing in Mysore

Abdol Hossein Azimi*, Jamuna Prakash**, Prabhavathi S.N.***

Abstract

An adequate healthy diet must satisfy human needs for energy and all essential nutrients. Adequate nutrition is the right proportion of food and nutrients needed for growth and maintenance. Food and nutrient intakes are influenced by the living environment and availability of food. Hence dietary habits can change when people travel to different country. Improved nutritional status plays an important role in the well being of individuals and is critical for socio- economic development. The aim of this study was to find out the nutritional status and dietary pattern of Iranian's residing in Mysore city, India. The methodology involved the measurement of somatic status, collecting data on food frequency and dietary intake using standardized techniques. Results indicated that 37% of males and 16% of females were obese grade II. Nearly 46% of males and 32% of females had waist hip ratio of >0.9, which is considered a risk factor for cardiovascular diseases and diabetes. Food frequency indicated that the diets were cereal based and subjects were consuming less of various fruits and vegetables. The diets were sufficient in energy and protein content. Fat intake was much higher than recommended. Calcium was also inadequate. Thiamin and riboflavin were adequate; however, niacin was lesser than needed. The antioxidant nutrients such as vitamin C and β -carotene were also inadequate. The contribution of calorie from carbohydrate sources was found to be the highest followed by fat and protein. The study brought to light some important inferences such as how a shift in dietary pattern or a migration affects the quality of diet and nutritional status.

Keywords: Body mass index; Dietary recall; Nutrient adequacy; Obesity.

Introduction

The dietary habits of Iranian adults seems to be greatly influenced by the nutrition transition, which is taking place in the country as a result of rapid changes in demography, social development as well as urbanization and industrialization. This has resulted in considerable dietary changes, which includes increased consumption of inexpensive dietary energy sources like, bread, sugar, fats and oils

(Received on 12.07.2013; Accepted on 20.07.2013)

and reduced intake of meat, fruits and vegetables, as these are comparatively costlier. A healthy diet plays a vital role in delaying and or preventing a large number of chronic degenerative diseases.[1]

The trend towards assessing dietary nutrient quality is increasing day by day.[2] In developing countries total energy intake is the most important indicator of food security.[3] Studies report that adult Iranian men have inadequate intake of some nutrients and assessing the dietary diversity is thought to be a useful indicator of nutrient adequacy among adults.[4-8] The different ways of defining food, its consumption, and dietary observances are all thought to be governed by cultural conditions and various social contexts. For an individual, eating food is not just considered as a simple biological action. Food and its obligations are mainly governed by factors such as population, social tradition, religious beliefs, social position, gender role and aesthetics.[9-11] Each society follows different

Author's affiliation: *Post graduate student, **Professor, ***, Guest Lucturer, Department of studies in Food Science and Nutrition, University of Mysore, Manasagangothri, Mysore - 570 006. INDIA.

Corresponding Author: Ms Prabhavathi S.N., Guest Lucturer, Department of studies in Food Science and Nutrition, University of Mysore, Manasagangothri, Mysore – 570 006, INDIA.

E-mail: pprabhavathisn@gmail.com

food styles and dietary pattern, which depends on environmental, cultural and social traditions.[12]

Migration is also one of the factor which tends to influence the individuals nutritional status. A healthy migrant effect is one which facilitates the individual to cope with the pressures associated with moving from one country to another.[13] The healthy migrant effect appears to wane with increasing length of stay in the country. Over time the lifestyle and nutritional patterns of immigrants converge towards that of the host population. Many migrant groups show a significant adoption to obesogenic behaviours (e.g. consumption of more energy dense and nutrition poor foods, as well as less physical activity), experience weight gain following migration and record higher body weights than their host country counterparts.[14-15]

The estimates of World Health Organization show that, by the year 2020, non communicable diseases will become the leading cause for approximately three quarters of all deaths in the developing world.[16] Reduced physical activities, coupled with nutrition transition are considered to be partly responsible for rising prevalence of such risk factors among the communities all over the world.[17] In recent years, this epidemiological transition has made Iranian young people prone to chronic disease in later life.[18-19] Hence, it is very pertinent to assess their dietary and nutrient intakes in relation to their somatic status. The present study was planned and conducted to evaluate the nutritional status and dietary pattern of Iranian adults residing in Mysore using a small representative sample.

Methodology

In this cross sectional study, a total of 324 individual (191-males and 124-Females) were selected randomly. The study was conducted in Mysore and approved by the Human Ethical Committee of the University of Mysore. The baseline information collected included age,

gender, weight, height, education and food pattern *via* a face-to-face interview with the participants of the study. The details about the method followed for assessing the nutritional status are given below.

Anthropometric measurements

Body weight was measured using an electronic weighing balance and recorded to the nearest of 0.5 kg. The subjects were measured bare foot and wearing light clothing. Height was measured using a mounted tape and recorded to the nearest 0.5 cm. Body mass index (BMI) was then calculated as weight in kg divided by the square of height in meters. The subjects were then classified into different grades of BMI based on the WHO guidelines.[20] Body circumferences were measured to the nearest millimeter using a flexible tape. Waist circumference was taken at the end of normal expiration with the measuring tape positioned at the mid way between the lower rib and the iliac crest. Hip circumference was measured at the level of maximal protrusion of the gluteal muscles. WHR was calculated as waist circumference (cm) divided by hip circumference (cm). The cutoff points were deviced based on the study reported by Azadbakht.[21] The normal cutoff points used in this study were 0.7-0.9 and 0.7-0.8 for male and female subjects. The subjects were then categorized as normal, gluteal femoral obese and abdominal obesity based on the cutoff ranges of 0.7-0.8, 0.8-0.9 and >0.9. The mid-upper arm circumference measurement was taken on the left hand. The mid-point between the tip of the acromion of scapula and the tip of the olecranon process of the ulna, with the arm flexed at the elbow at right angle. The reading was taken to the nearest millimeter. The recorded measurements were compared with the standards for computing the percent standard of MUAC.[22]

Dietary assessment

Dietary assessment was done using food frequency and dietary intake survey by 24 hr

recall. Twenty four hour dietary recall interview was used to estimate the nutrient intake. During the interview the respondents were asked to report and recall the amount of food they had consumed in a day. Portion sizes of consumed foods were converted to grams using household measures and the nutrient content of the foods were computed using food composition tables for Indian foods.[23] The percent adequacy of nutrient intake was determined using the United States recommended dietary allowances.[24]

For evaluating the frequency of consumption of various foods, a food frequency questionnaire was used. The food frequency questionnaire consisted of a list of foods, and participants were asked to report their frequency and amount of intake of each food item. The data obtained was computed as mean number of times a food was consumed in a day by subjects.

Statistical analysis

Data were analyzed and reported as mean ± SD for all measurements using a software on computer. Levels of significance between genders were measured using t-test and chisquare test.

Results

Information on the general profile of the study population is presented in Table 1. The age wise distribution of subjects showed that majority (42% and 34%) of male and female subjects were between the age group of 25-30 years. A considerably higher percentage (79% and 85%) of subjects from both male and female were pursuing undergraduate courses, 47% of males and 58% of females were reported to be in postgraduate courses, and 39% of males and 19% of females were pursuing doctoral degrees. Around 42% of males and 40% females were unmarried and the rest were married.

The mean anthropometric measurements of subjects given in Table 1 show that among males the mean height was almost similar in all the age groups ranging from 173.6±8.2 to 178.5±6.6 cm. A slightly higher mean body weights were recorded in the age group of 20-

		Age (Years)								
Parameter	Category		Males (N=199)		F	Females (N=125)			
		20-25	26-30	31-35	36-40	20-25	26-30	31-35	36-40	
Number of	subjects	37 (18)	68 (34)	53 (27)	41 (21)	35 (28)	53 (42)	20 (16)	17 (14)	
	Under- graduates	22 (11)	3 (2)	1 (1)	-	22 (18)	5 (4)	1 (1)	-	
Educational level	Post- graduates	15 (8)	51 (25)	10 (5)	18 (19)	13 (10)	44 (35)	10 (8)	5 (4)	
	Doc toral degree	-	14 (7)	42 (20)	23 (12)	-	3 (2)	9 (7)	12 (10)	
Marital	Married	4 (2)	15 (8)	28 (14)	35 (18)	6 (5)	21 (17)	15 (12)	8 (6)	
status	Un married	33 (16)	53 (26)	25 (13)	6 (3)	29 (23)	32 (26)	5 (4)	9 (7)	
	Mean Height (cm)	177.7 ±5.4	178.5 ±6.6	176.7 ±5.5	173.6 ±8.2	163.4 ±6.3	164.6 ±6.2	162.6 ±4.4	160.3 ±6.2	
	Mean weight (kg)	82.8 ±17.1	76.2 ±11.8	78.6 ±12.2	78.6 ±13.3	57.4 ±9	60.7 ±10.5	57.4 ±8.8	67.3 ±7.4	
Somatic status	MUAC (cm)	30.8 ±4.2	29.8 ± 3.2	30.7 ± 3.2	30.8 ± 4.0	25.2 ± 4.2	26.9 ± 4.1	25.9 ± 2.1	29.4 ± 3.3	
	WHR (cm)	0.85 ±0.08	0.86 ±0.06	0.88 ± 0.55	0.90 ± 0.05	0.79 ±0.05	0.80 ± 0.06	0.79 ±0.05	0.83 ±0.05	

Table 1: General information and mean anthropometric measurements of subjects

Volume 1 Number 2, May - August 2013

		Age (Years)									
Indicators		Males (N=199)		Females (N=125)						
	20-25	26-30	31-35	36-40	20-25	26-30	31-35	36-40			
BMIgrading											
17-18.5	-	-	-	-	4	4	-	-			
18.5-20	1	2	3	-	7	8	7	-			
20-25	10	19	6	11	15	26	6	7			
25-30	4	11	14	8	2	6	2	6			
30-35	4	3	2	2	-	-	-	-			
X ²		0.008**									
			W aist-	hip rati	0						
0.7-0.8	4	6	3	2	18	18	8	3			
0.8-0.9	11	17	16	9	10	25	8	10			
>0.9	4	10	8	10	-	-	-	-			
p-value				0.000)1***						
		MUA	C (perce	ent of st	andard)						
70-80	-	-	-	-	6	6	-	-			
80-90	3	4	2	3	11	8	8	-			
>90	15	30	24	18	10	29	8	14			
p-value				0.000)1***						

Table 2: Subjects classified according to nutritional status (percent of subjects)

Table 3: Food frequency categorized as mea	n number of subjects using da	aily
--	-------------------------------	------

Food	Frequency of			Frequ	ency of		Frequency of		
Toou	1	use	Food group	1	use	Food group	1	use	
group	Male	Female		Male	Female		Male	Female	
	Cereals		Veg	getables		F	ruits		
Rice	165	98	Onion	185	111	Banana	102	63	
Wheat	145	97	Tomato	139	89	Orange	69	48	
Maize	13	8.9	Potato	102	89	Mango	41	36	
Barley	12	7	Cucumber	97	89	Grapes	42	23	
Oat	4.2	2.9	Eggplant	92	69	Apple	33	21	
]	Pulses		Carrot	51	43	Pineapple	27	21	
Bean	26	18	Mint leaves	44	32	Pomegranate	17	13	
Peas	22	15	Cabbage	39	24	papaya	15	12	
Wax bean	21	14	Lettuce	30	21	Pear	8	7	
Lentil	20	14	Mushroom	22	17	Peach	6.7	5.5	
Chick pea	19	11	Turnip	1	1.4	Strawberry	0.4	1.7	
Broad 6 4		Snacks and	ready to	eat food	Bev	verages			
beans					<i></i>	Test and 170 100			
Anii	mal Food	ls	Sweets	71	65	Tea/ coffee	172	108	
Beet	130	101	Honey	68	45	Soft drink	112	64	
Chicken	84	44	French fries	44	44	Energy drink	19	8	
Goat meat	64	31	Biscuit	40	38	Dry fru	iits & ni	ıts	
Fish	29	13	Cake	40	31	Date	47	43	
Shrimp	8	5	Jam	31	27	Coconut	45	43	
Egg	75	31	Macaroni	28	21	Walnut	42	26	
Milk &	milk pro	ducts	Noodles	24	18	Peanut	23	24	
Yogurt	127	84	Soup	22	16	Pistachio	23	20	
Milk	116	72	Peanut butter	15	14	Almond	21	17	
Cheese	96	72	Corn flakes	10	12	Hazelnut	12	5	
Butter	47	31	Nuggets	12	7	Fig	6	7	
Ice cream	27	19	Pizza	9	6	-	-	-	
-	-	-	Jelly	6	6	-	-	-	

	Age in years								
Nutrients		Ν	Male			Fen	n ale		P-Value
	20-25	26-30	31-35	36-40	20-25	26-30	31-35	36-40	
Protein	74	74	79	82	61	64	71	62	0.0001***
(g)	± 15.8	±16.7	± 20.6	±16.1	±17.1	± 19.1	±16.1	±20.0	
-	(133.2)	(133.3)	(141.2)	(146.6)	(133.6)	(140.1)	(155.3)	(136.0)	
Fat	67	61	68	64	69	64	72	58	0.625 ^{NS}
(g)	±22.7	± 22.2	±24.5	±19.9	± 23.0	±25.3	± 20.5	± 24.4	
	(94.5)	(86.9)	(98.1)	(93.7)	(122.6)	(112.3)	(129.2)	(105.1)	
Die tary fibre	20.5	18.1	17.9	23.2	16.5	16.9	15.3	19.6	0.018**
(g)	± 10.1	±7.2	±8.55	±15.9	± 4.9	± 8.3	±6.2	±10.2	
	(54.0)	(47.8)	(64.1)	(92.9)	(66.2)	(67.9)	(61.3)	(78.7)	
Energy	3063	3890	3133	3029	2492	2265	2439	2480	0.0001***
(kcal)	± 481	± 496	± 516	±373	±312	±423	± 238	± 275	
	(101.7)	(93.8)	(107.4)	(106.2)	(105.4)	(95.8)	(105.7)	(110.1)	
Calcium	428±	448±	443±	478 ±	401±	473±	473±	408 ±	0.001**
(mg)	185.7	190.2	185.3	194.6	180.6	184.8	190.9	179.0	
	(42.9)	(44.9)	(44.4)	(47.9)	(50.9)	(58.7)	(55.0)	(50.8)	
Iron	10.3	9.8	9.1	10.5	15.5	14.6	14.3	13.1	0.0001***
(mg)	± 2.1	±2.2	± 2.4	± 1.7	±6.3	± 4.7	± 2.5	± 4.2	
	(127.7)	(121.3)	(111.9)	(130.8)	(86.4)	(81.5)	(79.8)	(73.1)	
Thiamin	1.34	1.30	1.23	1.24	1.22	1.24	1.19	1.15	0.0001***
(m g)	±0.1	± 0.17	± 0.12	±0.10	±0.18	±0.15	±0.15	±0.12	
	(111.1)	(108.3)	(102.3)	(103.2)	(110.3)	(112.2)	(108.4)	(104.6)	
Riboflavin	1.32	1.36	1.35	1.26	1.08	1.16	1.27	1.25	0.0001***
(m g)	±0.13	± 0.11	± 0.13	±0.14	± 0.06	± 0.13	± 0.15	± 0.26	
	(101.4)	(103.7)	(103.6)	(96.6)	(98.2)	(105.0)	(115.2)	(112.9)	
Niacin	16.3	16.4	14.2	14.7	11.3	10.1	12.0	12.9	0.0001***
(m g)	± 3.3	± 2.59	± 2.1	± 1.5	± 2.8	± 1.99	± 1.45	±1.66	
	(102.0)	(102.4)	(88.2)	(91.7)	(81.1)	(71.9)	(86.3)	(92.3)	
Vitam in C	100	103	94	114	87	104	105	89	0.077 _{NS}
(m g)	±19.5	± 24.7	±27.3	±27.1	± 12.0	± 23.2	± 27.5	±29.2	
	(111.9)	(114.2)	(103.9)	(126.6)	(115.3)	(138.9)	(139.1)	(118.7)	
B-Carotene	886	786 ±333	810 ±298	726	817	785	686	955	0.958 ^{NS}
(µg)	±304	(87.1)	(82.4)	±276	±349	±424	±363	± 553	
	(98.4)			(92.3)	(78.6)	(85.2)	(68.9)	(75.1)	

Table 4: Mean nutrient intake of subjects per day and nutrient adequacy

Fig 1: Percent calorie contribution from different macronutrients



Volume 1 Number 2, May - August 2013

25 years (82.8 \pm 17.1 kg). Among females the mean height was in the range of 160.3 \pm 6.2 to 164.6 \pm 6.2 cm. A higher mean body weights were noticed for subjects in the age group of 35-40 years (67.3 \pm 7.4 kg). With increasing age a steady increase in the mean body weight gained was also observed among the study group.

The somatic status of subjects is shown in Table 2. Distribution into different grades of nutritional status based on body mass index (BMI) indicated that 8% of females were suffering from chronic energy deficiency. Six percent of males and 22% of females had normal body mass index. Forty six percent of males and 54% of females were shown to have obesity grade I, whereas 37% of males and 16% of females belonged to grade II obesity. Waist - hip ratio (WHR) indicated that a relatively equal percentage of subjects belonging to male and female category had normal WHR ranges. A considerably high percent of males (32%) had WHR >0.9. The classification of MUAC as standard percent showed that 87% of males and 61% of females belonged to >90% of standard category. Only 12% of females between the age group of 20-30 years had a lower MUAC in the category of percent standard of 70-80%.

The food frequency data of subjects computed as average intake per day is given in table 3. Food frequency revealed that the major cereal consumed was rice followed by wheat. Maize was consumed to a lesser extent and other cereals were rarely used. Among legumes, use of beans, peas, and lentil was very common; others were used very rarely which indicates a poor dietary diversity. Among vegetables, tomato, potato, onion and egg plant were used by almost all the subjects. Others were hardly used by the study population. Fruit consumption was found to be moderate in both the groups. Beef, chicken and goat meat were commonly consumed by both the groups. Among the beverages tea, coffee and soft drink consumption was found to be very high among males. Dry fruits and nuts intake was shown to be in moderation. Milk and curd were commonly consumed

products. Processed foods like biscuit, cake, and macaroni fell in the average use category.

Dietary intake of subjects was determined using 24hr recall method of survey. Table 4 presents the mean nutrient intake of all subjects. The mean protein intake was found to be sufficient. The highest protein intake was observed in the age group of 35-40 years among male subjects (82 ± 16.1g/day). Among females it was 71±16.1g/day in the age group of 30-35 years. Fat intake was found to be much higher and highest intake was seen in the age group of 30-35 years for both male and female subjects (68 and 72 g/day). Fiber intake was found to be satisfactory for both the groups. The mean energy intake for males ranged between 3029±373 Kcal to 3890±496 Kcal. Among females it was 2265±423 Kcal to 2492±312 Kcal. Calcium intake was found to be much below the recommended level for both male and female subjects which was in the range of 428±185.7 to 478±194.6 and 401±180.6 to 473±190.9 mg/day. Iron intake was found to be low among male subjects whereas for females it was satisfactory. The intake of thiamin, riboflavin and niacin were found to be adequate. The intake of vitamin C was found to be much higher than recommended allowances. â-carotene intake was lower which ranged from 726±276 to 886±304 for males and 686±363 to 955±553 μ g/100g for females. Statistically significant differences were noted for the intake of protein, fiber, energy, calcium, iron, thiamin, riboflavin and niacin among the genders.

The analysis of percent adequacy of nutrients showed that the both protein and energy consumption was above the recommended level which ranged between 133.2 to 146.6% of protein for males and 133.6 to 155.3% for females, energy intake was found to be in the range of 93.8 to 107.4% for males and among females, it was 95.8 to 110.1%. Fat intake was more in all the subjects. Among all the nutrients, calcium consumption was found to be the least for all the age groups for both male and female subjects (42.9 to 47.9% and 50.8 to 58.7%). Iron consumption was satisfactory for both the groups which

accounted for 130.8% among males. Thiamin and riboflavin were consumed in adequate quantity by both the groups. Vitamin C consumption was higher than the recommended. Retinol adequacy was found to be marginal. The lowest (68.9%) adequacy level was observed in the age group of 30-35 years of females

It was worthwhile to examine the contribution of macronutrients protein, fat and carbohydrate to the energy intake of subjects to understand the composition of their diets. The mean percent contribution of protein, fat and carbohydrate to the total energy intake of subjects is presented in Fig 1. It is evident from the figure that among the three nutrients the highest energy was contributed by carbohydrate followed by fat and protein for both the groups. The calories contributed by protein, fat and carbohydrate were 16%, 29% and 56% for males and 14%, 33% and 53% for females respectively. It can be seen that fat calories were very high in the study subjects and they need to reduce the intake of fat in their diets.

Discussion

The prevalence of obesity is on the rise in developing countries like Iran, which might be possibly due to the involvement of various environmental factors such as socio- economic status, physical activity level and dietary pattern. Of all these educational level may also play a role in obesity through shaping the knowledge of individuals about diet, physical activity and their consequences on health status.[25] The negative association of obesity may therefore be related to a low level of knowledge among individuals about the intake of balanced meals in day-to-day living.[26] Body mass index (BMI) is a method used to measure a person's percent body fat. Accumulation of excess fat in the waist area increases the risk of having high blood pressure, cholesterol, diabetes, cardiovascular diseases and stroke.[27] In our study as we can see from the results, it is evident that with increasing

age there is a gradual increase in mean body weight especially among women. This is an indication that the risk of obesity increases with aging if there is no consequent reduction in the energy intake as most of them prefer to be sedentary. Our results are consistent with the findings of Seidell[28] who reported that women show generally higher obesity prevalence than men especially after 50 years of age.

Waist-hip-ratio (WHR) is used to measure the distribution of person's body fat. WHR is a very good indicator of abdominal obesity which percentage can be considered as an independent predictor of cardiovascular diseases, morbidity and subsequent mortality. [29] Since a considerably higher percentage of subjects, both male and female were suffering from grade I and II obesity, it can be inferred that they are at the higher risk for developing degenerative diseases. Chi-square test was performed to check the degree of association of BMI for various age groups. Statistically significant association was noted between the groups. Similarly for WHR and MUAC, t-test showed statistically significant difference (p< 0.0001).

Several studies have reported that a shift from a monotonous diet to a more diverse diet has been shown to increase energy and micronutrient intakes especially in developing countries.[30-33] Intake of a diverse range of foods has been a recommendation for achieving adequate nutrient intake.[34] The results of the study indicated that the diets were adequate in energy and protein content. The energy density of the diet could also be associated with healthy or unhealthy characteristics of the diets. Energy dense diets have been reported to contain higher amounts of fat, refined grains and added sugars, but lower amounts of fruits and vegetables, whole grains and dietary fiber which are associated with unhealthy food choices.[35] However, fat was found to be much higher. The high fat intake could be attributed to the higher intake of meat and meat products, various processed foods and dairy products.

Dietary calcium intake especially from dairy products has been shown to have a protective effect on overweight and obesity.[36-39] Since all the study groups showed a lower intake of calcium it can be inferred this could be one of the reasons for the prevalence of higher mean body weights and BMI. Vitamin A intake was below the recommended level. Most of the vitamin A intake comes through carotenoids consumed through vegetables and fruits. Since the study population showed a lower consumption of green leafy vegetables and other vegetables, their carotene intakes were also found to be low. Adequate consumption of fruits and vegetables has a prominent role in weight management probably because their consumption decreases energy density, promotes satiety and decreases energy intake. [40] The Vitamin C intake would possibly be contributed by the consumption of fruit juices. Thiamin and riboflavin are shown to be adequately consumed by all the age groups as cereals are the richest sources of these nutrients and since the diets were predominantly cereal based, the intakes were sufficient.

It was interesting to analyze the percent contribution of calories form various macronutrients. For both male and female subjects, the calories contributed by carbohydrate was almost similar and fat calories were very high indicating a high fat intake. A higher intake of protein, fat and carbohydrate would have contributed to the higher energy intake among both group of subjects.

Conclusion

The extent of dietary change after migrating to another country would depend upon the place of origin, time of migration as well as extent of exposure to host country. In the present study it was observed that the subjects were more dependent on the processed food rather than home prepared foods. This might be due to the lack of time and adequate resources to prepare and serve themselves. Adopting diverse foods in the diet is important to obtain the beneficial effect of protective nutrients. An awareness programme about the judicious selection of foods is necessary for such category of individuals for maintaing health and well being, nutrient adequacy and quality of the diets.

Acknowledgement

The authors of this study would like to acknowledge all the subjects who participated in the study.

References

- 1. Nitzke S, Graves JF. American Dietetic Association. Position of the American Dietetic Association: total diet approach to communicating food and nutrition information. J Am Diet Assoc. 2007; 107: 1224–32.
- Coulston AM. The search continues for a tool to evaluate dietary quality. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2001; 74: 417.
- Torheim LE, Quattara F, Diarra MM, Thiam FD, Barikmo I, Hatloy A and Oshaug A. Validation of food variety as an indicator of diet quality assessment with a food frequency questionnaire for werstern mali. *Eur J Clin Nut*. 2003; 57: 1283-91.
- 4. Ogle BM, Huang PH and Tuyet HJ. Significance of wild vegetables in micronutrients intakes of women in Vietnam; an analysis of food variety. *Asia Pacific J Clin Nut*. 2001; 10: 21-30.
- Bernstein AM, Tucker LK, Ryan DM, O'neill FE, Clements MK, Nelson EM, Evans JW, Fiatrone AM. Higher dietary variety is associated with better nutritional status in frail elderly people. J Am Diet Assoc. 2002; 102: 1096-1104.
- Torheim LE, Quattara F, Diarra MM, Thiam FD, Barikmo I, Hatloy A and Oshaug A. Nutrient adequacy and dietary diversity in rural mali;association and determinants. Eur J Clin Nut. 2004; 58: 594-604
- Foote JA, Murphy SP, Wilkens LR, Basiotis P and Carlson A. Dietary variety increases the probability of nutrient adequacy among adults. *J Nutr.* 2004; 134: 1779-85.

- Mirmiran P, Azadbakht L & Azizi F. Dietary diversity within food groups: an indicator of specific nutrient adequacy in Tehranian women. J Am Coll Nutr. 2006; 25: 354–61.
- Bailey G and Peoples J. Humanity: Introduction to Cultural Anthropology. 6th Edition. Belmont: Wadsworth Press; 2000.
- 10. Ember C, Melvin E. Cultural Anthropology. 10th Edition. New Jersey: Prentice-Hall; 2002.
- 11. Scupin R, David MC. Anthropology: A Global Perspective. New Jersey: Prentice-Hall Press; 2004.
- 12. Watson M, Caldwell ML. The Cultural Politics of Food and Eating. New York: Bantam Books; 2005.
- 13. Arnold M, Razum O, and Coebergh JW. Cancer risk diversity in non-western migrants to Europe: an overview of the literature. *Eur J Cancer*. 2010; 46: 2647-59.
- 14. Daryani A. Risk factors for coronary heart disease among immigrant women from Iran and Turkey, compared to women of Swedish ethnicity. *Ethnicity & Disease*. 2005; 15(2): 213-20.
- 15. Gadd M. Do immigrants have an increased prevalence of unhealthy behaviours and risk factors for coronary heart disease? *Eur J Cardio Preven & Rehab.* 2005; 12(6): 535.
- World Health Organization (WHO). Obesity: preventing and managing the global Epidemic, 1st ed. Report of a WHO Consultation on Obesity, Geneva, 3–5 June 1997.WHO/NUT/ NCD/98.1. Geneva: WHO; 1997.
- 17. Goran MI and Gower BA. Relationship between visceral fat and disease risk in children and adolescents. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 1999; 70: 149s-56s.
- Kelishadi R, Alikhani S, Delavari A. Obesity and associated lifestyle behaviours in Iran: Findings from the First National Noncommunicable Disease Risk Factor Surveillance Survey. *Public Health Nutr.* 2008; 11: 246-51.
- 19. Azizi E, Rahmani M, Emami H and Madjid M. Tehran Lipid & Glucose Study: rationale and design. *C.V.D Prevention*. 2000; 3: 242-47.
- 20. Physical status: The use and interpretation of anthropometry. Report of a WHO expert committee World health Organization. *Tech Rep Ser*. 1995; 854: 1-452.
- 21. Azadbakht L, Mirmiran P, Shiva N and Azizi F.

General obesity and central adiposity in a representative sample of Tehranian adults; prevalence and determinants. *Int J Vit and Nut Res.* 2005; 75(4): 297-304.

- 22. Rao HK, Raghavan V and Rao M. Anthropometry in the assessment of nutritional status. Human nutrition. 3rd edition. Oxford and IBH publishing company; 2003.
- Gopalan C, Rama Sastri BV, Balasubramanian SC, Narasinga Rao BS, Deosthale YG and Pant KC. Nutritive value of Indian Foods. Hyderabad: National Institute of Nutrition, Indian Council of Medical Research; 1996.
- 24. Mahan K, Stump E. eds. Krause's Food, Nutrition and Diet therapy, 12th edition, Philadelphia, PA: WB saunders; 2008, 347.
- 25. Ball K, Mishra G and Crawford D. Which aspects of socio economic status are related to obesity among men and women? *Inter J Obesity and Rel Met Dis.* 2002; 26: 559-65.
- 26. Astrup A, Grunwald GK, Melonson EL, Soris WH, Hill JO. The role of low fat diets in body weight control; a metanalysis of ad libitum dietary intervention studies. *Inter J Obesity and Rel Met Dis.* 2000; 24: 1545-52.
- 27. Landen M. dyslipidemia and high waist-to-hip ratio in women with self reported social anxiety. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*. 2004; 29: 1037-46.
- 28. Lin S. Impact of dysglycemia, body mass index, and waist hip ratio on the prevalence of systemic hypertension in a lean Chinese population. *Am J Cardiology*. 2006; 97: 839-42.
- 29. Seidell JC. Epidemiology, Definition and classification of obesity in kopelman PG, Stock MJ, eds. Clinical obesity. Cambridge: Blackwell; 1998, 1-17.
- Janghorbani M, Amini M, Willett W, Gouya M, Delavari A, Aikhani S. First nationwide survey of prevalence of overweight, underweight, and abdominal obesity in Iranian adults. *Obesity*. 2007; 15: 2797-808.
- Hoddinott J & Yohannes Y. Dietary diversity as a food security indicator. Discussion Paper no. 136.Washington, DC: International Food Policy Research Institute, Food Consumption and Nutrition Division; 2002.
- 32. Mirmiran P, Esmailzadeh A and Azizi F. Detection of cardiovascular risk factors by anthropometric measures in tehranian adults;

receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve analysis. *Eur J Clin Nut*. 2004; 58: 1110-8.

- 33. Steyn N, Nel J, Nantel G, Kennedy G & Labradarios D. Food variety and dietary diversity scores: are they good indicators of dietary adequacy? *Public Health Nutr.* 2006; 9: 644–50.
- Kennedy GL, Pedro MR, Seghieri C, Nantel G & Brouwer I. Dietary diversity score is a useful indicator of micronutrient intake in non-breastfeeding Filipino children. J Nutr. 2007; 137: 472–77.
- 35. Ledikwe JH, Blanck HM, Khan LK, Serdula MK, Seymour JD, Tohill BC and Rolls BJ. Low energy density diets are associated with high diet quality in adults in the United States. *J Am Diet Assoc.* 2006; 106: 1172-180.
- 36. Davies KM, Heaney RP, Recker RR, Lappe JM,

Bergerlux J and Rafferty K. Calcium intake and body weight. *J Clin Endo and Met*. 2000; 85: 4635-8

- 37. Zemel MB, Shi H, Greer B, Dirienzo D, Zemel PC. Regulation of adiposity by dietary calcium. *FASEB Journal*. 2000; 14: 1132-8.
- 38. Carruth BR and Skinners JD. The role of dietary calcium and other nutrients in moderating body fat in preschool children. *Inter J Obesity and Rel Met Dis.* 2001; 25: 559-66.
- 39. Skinners JD, Bounds W, Carruth BR, Ziegler P. Longitudinal calcium intake is negatively related to childrens body fat indexes. *J Am Diet Assoc.* 2003; 103: 1626-31.
- 40. Howarth NC, Saltzman E, Roberts SB. Dietary fiber and weight regulation. *Nutr Reviews*. 2002; 59: 129-39.

Bye Bye Junk Food

Sunil Mhaske*, Parth Patel**

Abstract

Junk food is a derisive slang term for food that is of little nutritional value and often high in fat, sugar, salt, and calories. It is widely believed that the term was coined by Michael Jacobson, director of the Center for Science in the Public Interest, in 1972. Junk foods typically contain high levels of calories from sugar or fat with little protein, vitamins or minerals. Foods commonly considered junk foods include salted snack foods, gum, candy, sweet desserts, fried fast food, and sugary carbonated beverages. Many foods such as hamburgers, pizza, and tacos can be considered either healthy or junk food depending on their ingredients and preparation methods. The more highly processed items usually falling under the junk food category. What is and is not junk food can also depend on the person's class and social status, with wealthier people tending to have a broader definition while lower-income consumers may see fewer foods as junk food, especially certain ethnic foods. Despite being labeled as "junk" consuming such foods usually does not pose any immediate health concerns and is generally safe when integrated into a well balanced diet.

Keywords: Junk food; Children; Mental and physical effects.

Introduction

Today junk food eating is very common in all parts of world irrespective of economical status of family. Initially ignored aspect has entered into depth of everyone's health especially child population. This junk food has many side effects on children in physical as well as mental health.

In India and most of the countries, junk foods are not defined in proper manner so the question comes then how to say no to these food items. This junk foods are advertised continuously in all types of medias and available at door reach to children including school campus.

(Received on 04.08.2013; Accepted on 24.08.2013)

Michael Jacobson was first who coined junk food (empty calorie) terminology. He was born on 29th July 1943. He was an American scientist and nutritional advisor. He studied that Soda is essential junk food with just sugar calories and no nutrients. Most of Americans are drinking soda with average two cans of soda a day and these soft drinks contributes to obesity and tooth decay in teenagers. In 2005, Jacobson's organization proposed mandatory warning labels on all containers of sugarsweetened soft drinks, to warn consumers about the possible health risks of consuming these beverages on a regular basis.[1]

Definition

Junk food is defined as the food that having little nutritional value and high fat, sugar, salt, and calories. Junk foods typically contain high levels of calories from sugar or fat with little protein, vitamins or minerals. Foods commonly considered junk foods include salted snack foods, gum, candy, sweet desserts, fried fast food, and sugary carbonated beverages. Many foods such as hamburgers, pizza, and tacos also be considered junk food depending on their ingredients and preparation methods.[2]

Author's affiliation: *Professor and Head, **Intern, Department of paediatrics, Padmashree Dr. Vithalrao Vikhe Patil Medical College, Ahmednagar, Maharashtra (India)-414111.

Corresponding Author: Dr. Sunil Mhaske, Professor & Head, Department of paediatrics, Padmashree Dr. Vithalrao Vikhe Patil Medical College, Ahmednagar, Maharashtra (India)-414111

E-mail: sunilmhaske1970@gmail.com

Some of the examples of Junk Foods are as follows:

- Soda
- Fried chicken
- Egg and sausage sandwich
- Bacon cheeseburger
- French fries
- Milk shake
- Deep fried cheese sticks
- pizza
- Cheese cake
- Hot dog
- Burgers
- Candies
- Sugary Cereals
- Samosas
- Carbonated Beverages
- Ice-Creams
- Creamy Cakes
- noodles
- kurkure

Bye-bye

- *Obesity:* Junk food has a major role in the obesity epidemic. Obesity increases your risk for cardiovascular disease.
- *Diabetes:* Eating junk foods throughout the day causes chronically high insulin levels, resulting obesity and Type 2 diabetes mellitus.
- *Depression:* Hormonal changes at puberty make teenagers more susceptible to mood and behavioral swings. A healthy diet plays a part in keeping hormone levels at normal level. while a diet high

in junk food falls short of these requirements. Consuming trans fats, saturated fats and processed food is associated with up to 50% increase in risk of depression.

- Nutrient Deficiencies lead to low in energy, mood swings, sleep disturbance and poor academic achievement.
- *Sodium:* High sodium in junk foods is a contributing factor in high blood pressure and heart, liver and kidney diseases
- *Overeating:* Junk foods are low in satiation value leads to overeating.
- Junk food doesn't contain nutrients for healthy body leading to chronic fatigue.
- Because fast food and junk food don't contain adequate amounts of protein and good carbohydrates, blood sugar levels drops suddenly leading to fatigue.
- short term eating of too much junk food also leads to mood swings and constipation.

One important study done at Deakin University in Australia, studied 23,000 mothers which was published in the Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry. These researchers found that mothers who eat junk food during pregnancy more likely to have children with mental health problems like Depression, Anxiety, Conduct disorder, attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder etc.

References

- 1. Michael F Jacobson (2005-07-01). Liquid candy. Nutrition Action Healthletter. Retrieved 2008-04-02.
- 2. O'Neill, Brendon (November 30, 2006). Is this what you call junk food? BBC News. Retrieved June 29, 2010.

Corrosive Acid: An Uncommon Suicidal Poison

Vinod Kumar Garg*, Ramakant Verma**, Shailender Kumar***, P.C. Vyas****

Abstract

Deaths from corrosive substances are uncommon in day to day medicolegal practice. We report a case of death due to ingestion of sulphuric acid with history of depression and previous suicidal attempt. He was provisionally diagnosed of acid ingestion but there was no history either from patient or from his relatives. Guidance and education are important preventive tools, but the best approach is to restrict access to corrosive agents, by prohibiting their free commercialization.

Keywords: Chalky white teeth, Trickling lines, Corrosive acid, Utensil cleansing business.

Introduction

- Corrosive poisons are those substances which corrode & destroy the tissues through direct chemical action.
- Deaths from corrosive substances are uncommon in day to day medico legal practice.
- We report a case of death due to ingestion of sulphuric acid with history of depression and previous suicidal attempt.
- He was provisionally diagnosed of acid ingestion but there was no history either from patient or from his relatives, as patient was alone at home at the time of incidence.
- Diagnosis was confirmed only after autopsy report.

Author's affiliation: *Resident Doctor, **Resident, ***Resident, ****PHOD, Department of Forensic Medicine and Toxicology, Dr. S.N. Medical College, Jodhpur, Rajasthan.

Corresponding Author: Dr. Vinod Kumar Garg, Resident doctor (MD, Forensic Medicine)-3rd year, Department of Forensic Medicine and Toxicology, Dr. S. N. Medical College, Jodhpur, Rajasthan.

E-mail: gargvinod85@gmail.com

(Received on 29.04.2013; Accepted on 23.08.2013)

Case report

- A 27 yrs old healthy married male was average built & nourished with history of depression & previous suicidal attempt.
- Occupationally, his family was engaged in utensil cleansing business.
- On one evening, he was alone at home & consumed about 150 ml sulphuric acid. Then neighbors brought him at district hospital at 6.15 pm.
- After primary treatment subject referred to medical college hospital at 6.45 pm but reached at medical college hospital at 9.30 pm in condition of shock and expired at 9.40pm.

Autoposy report

The postmortem done after 12 hours of death.

External findings

- The cloths are stained with brownish blackish spots at places.
- Rigor mortis present all over the body.
- PM staining was present on dependent parts except the pressure points.
- Mouth was semi opened. Dusky whitish dried froth was present at opening of mouth. There was inflammation &

excoriation of mucosa of lips. There was blackening of oral mucosa with blackish tongue. occlusal surface of upper central & lateral incisors were chalky white. Trickling lines from lower lip to chin was present.

• A superficial acid burn area (brownish in colour) of size 5x4cm, with trickling lines towards the fingers were present on dorsum of left hand medially.

Internal findings

- 1. Skull, Brain, Thorax-Healthy
- 2. Larynx & trachea- blackish mucosa present.
- 3. Abdomen
- *Stomach* converted into blackish ,soft mass with a perforation of size 4x3 cm, present at lower part of body. mucous membrane diffusely blackish in colour.
- *Peritoneum* blackish coloured material about 250 ml present in the peritoneal cavity left side mesentry adjacent to stomach & dependant parts of peritoneal cavity & dependant abdominal visceras stained with blackish coloured material.
- *Liver, spleen, kidneys* are congested.
- Bladder healthy & contains urine.
- *Pharynx & oesophagus* blackish coloured mucosa present. No perforation of oesophagus was seen.
- *Small intestine* blackish coloured mucosa.
- *Large intestine* internally healthy. Externally wall stained with blackish material.

FSL report

Confirm the presence of sulphuric acid.

Final opinion

The cause of death was given shock as a result of gastric perforation, due to ingestion of sulphuric acid.

Left hand acid burn area



Dusky white dried froth with trickling lines



Inflammation of lips & chalky white teeth



International Journal of Food, Nutrition and Dietetics

Blackish soft stomach mass with perforation



Discussion

- Within the adult population, suicidal intentions are recognized as the commonest cause of sulfuric acid ingestion as was in this case.[1]
- Sulphuric acid ingestion will lead to death by rapid cardiovascular collapse or shock Secondary to gastrointestinal tract rupture related chemical peritonitis.[2]
- It is reported that the squamous epithelium of oesophagus is relatively resistant to acid burns, while the columnar epithelium of stomach is much more frequent than perforation of oesophagus.[3]
- In 1927, a mohammedan male, 30 yrs, swallowed a quantity of a mixture of sulphuric acid & nitric acid after murdering his wife and child & died within 18 hours.[4]
- The fatal dose is 5-10 ml & fatal period 12-24 hrs.
- The ease of availability of acid because his family business contributed to

selection of this mode of attempting suicide.

• Individuals who attempt suicides by ingesting acid are typically conscious and lucid during the process, and as a result, concomitant aspiration pneumonia rarely occurs. When it occurs, it greatly increases the likelihood of death.[5]

Conclusion

Sulphuric acid is uncommonly used as suicidal poison. But in the present case subject was suffering from depression as per history & also history of previous suicidal attempt subject was alone at home & consumed a large quantity of acid.

These above findings suggest that it is a case of suicidal poisoning.

References

- 1. Tseng YL, Wu MH, Lin MY, *et al*. Outcome of acid ingestion related aspiration pneumonia. *Eur J Cardiothoracic Surg*. 2000; 21: 638-643.
- 2. Flammiger A, Maibach H. Sulfuric acid burns (corrosion and acute irritation) Evidence based overview to management. *Cutan Ocul Toxicol*. 2006; 25: 55-61.
- 3. Smith ML. Pediatric bums: management of thermal, electrical, and chemical burns and Burn like dermatologic conditions. *Pediatr Ann*. 2000; 29: 367-378.
- Mathiharan& Patnaik. Modi's medical jurisprudence and Toxicology (23rdedn.). Butterworths, 2005. Corrosive poisons; 48.
- 5. Reilly DA, Gamer WL. Management of chemical injuries to the upper extremity. *Hand Din.* 2000; 16; 215-224.

BOOKS FOR SALE

CHILD INTELLIGENCE

By Dr. Rajesh Shukla

ISBN: 81-901846-1-X, Pb, vi+141 Pages

Price: Rs.150/-, US\$50/-

Published by World Informations Syndicate

This century will be the century of the brain. Intelligence will define success of individuals; it remains the main ingredient of success. Developed and used properly, intelligence of an individual takes him to greater heights. Ask yourself, is your child intelligent! If yes, is he or she utilizing the capacity as well as he can? I believe majority of people, up to 80% may not be using their brain to best potential. Once a substantial part of life has passed, effective use of this human faculty cannot take one very far. So, parents need to know how does their child grow and how he becomes intelligent in due course of time. As the pressure for intelligence increases, the child is asked to perform in different aspects of life equally well. At times, it may be counterproductive. Facts about various facets of intelligence are given here. Other topics like emotional intelligence, delayed development, retardation, vaccines, advice to parents and attitude have also been discussed in a nutshell. The aim of this book is to help the child reach the best intellectual capacity. I think if the book turns even one individual into a user of his best intelligence potential, it is a success.

PEDIATRICS COMPANION

By Dr. Rajesh Shukla ISBN: 81-901846-0-1, Hb, VIII+392 Pages

Price: Rs.250/-, US\$50

Published by World Informations Syndicate

This book has been addressed to young doctors who take care of children, such as postgraduate students, junior doctors working in various capacities in Pediatrics and private practitioners. Standard Pediatric practices as well as diseases have been described in a nutshell. List of causes, differential diagnosis and tips for examination have been given to help examination-going students revise it quickly. Parent guidance techniques, vaccination and food have been included for private practitioners and family physicians that see a large child population in our country. Parents can have some understanding of how the doctors will try to manage a particular condition in a child systematically. A list of commonly used pediatric drugs and dosage is also given. Some views on controversies in Pediatrics have also been included. Few important techniques have been described which include procedures like endotracheal intubations, collecting blood samples and ventilation. I hope this book helps young doctors serve children better.

Order from

Red Flower Publication Pvt. Ltd. 48/41-42, DSIDC, Pocket-II, Mayur Vihar, Phase-I Delhi - 110 091 (India) Tel: 91-11-65270068, 22754205, Fax: 91-11-22754205 E-mail: redflowerppl@gmail.com, redflowerppl@vsnl.net

Impact of Nutrition Education of Parents of Preschool Children on Quality of Packed School Lunch

Deepa Prakash*, Shilpa M.S.**, Jamuna Prakash***

Abstract

The objective of the study was to assess the quality of packed school lunch given to pre-schoolers for its nutritional value and to assess the impact of nutrition education to parents to improve the nutritional quality of the lunch. Children (n=70, with control and experiment groups, 35 each) from 3 schools in Mysore city were part of the study. The study was conducted using a pre-test post-test model. At the pre-test level the nutritional quality of lunch boxes was assessed by 5 day weighment survey. An intervention of a nutrition education program was applied to the parents of the experiment group based on observational learning; nutrition knowledge scores were assessed using a standardized questionnaire. The impact of the education program was assessed at the post-test stage, studying the nutrition quality of school lunch boxes after the program. Results indicated that the diets of the children in the pre-test stage were adequate in protein and fat but inadequate in energy and micronutrients. Educational intervention resulted in increased dietary diversity in the lunch boxes with increased presence of fruits and vegetables. The post-test nutrition knowledge questionnaire showed an improvement in knowledge scores.

Keywords: Dietary diversity; Food frequency; Nutrient intake; Nutrition knowledge.

Introduction

Food habits have a strong influence on childhood obesity.[1] Behaviours linked to unhealthy weight gain *viz.* food preferences, eating habits, exercise set in during early childhood before commencing regular school.[2-3] According to the World Bank, children between ages 0-8 years are most vulnerable for nutrition related development disorders impairing both their growth and cognition; this in turn affects their future earning potential. Ergo, pre-school is an ideal

(Received on 03.06.2013; Accepted on 22.06.2013)

age to apply behaviour modification techniques for better health, lower the risk of overweight and obesity and provide optimum nutrition for required cognitive development. The school environment is a very useful area to teach and influence the food behaviour of children.[4-5] Parental feeding behaviours have a major impact on children's eating behaviour.[6] Most nutrition education programs have a single component approach of improving fruit and vegetable consumption in children and not a composite approach for the entire diet.[7-9] Parents are directly involved in daily food selection and support their children's food choices. Studies have proven that it is nutrition education which is critical for parents of pre-schoolers and not just having accumulated nutrition knowledge from allied sources, which will help their child achieve a balanced diet.[10] Nutrition education to families yielding a positive result in the nutrition intake of pre-school children has been established in the Indian context since the 80's[11]; the impact of better nutrition on cognition of pre-schoolers were seen by

Author's affiliation:*Research Scholar; **Graduate Student; ***Professor, Department of Food Science and Nutrition, Manasagangotri, Mysore 570 006.

Corresponding Author: Dr. Jamuna Prakash, Department of Food Science and Nutrition, Manasagangotri, Mysore 570 006.

E-mail: jampr55@hotmail.com

researchers in the USA at the same time.[12] Studies continue to indicate an emphatic positive association between parent's nutrition knowledge and children's nutrition intake.[13-15]

The present study encompassed a comprehensive nutrition education program for parents with special focus on school lunch boxes. The essential aim was to assess the nutrition quality of lunch boxes sent to school, and educate parents prompting autosuggestion due to structured nutrition knowledge which in turn improves the nutrition quality of the lunch box comprehensively. Since children sit together and eat their school lunch, it is also an ideal time for the group to self-motivate itself into healthier food choices which can become habitual over the school years.

Materials and Methods

Sample

Children (4 to 6 years) were selected by random sampling from three pre-schools in urban Mysore (n=70). Parents were enrolled for the program upon invitation via the school for an introductory program by the researchers. Parents who signed the consent form to participate and attend the education program were classified into the experiment group; parents who preferred to not attend the education program but consented to their child's participation in the program formed the control group.

Data collection

A pilot tested and standardized, multiple choice questionnaire comprising of 25 marks; was used to assess nutrition knowledge scores. The questions spanned general nutrition needs of growing children, specific attention areas for pre-schoolers and family life style practices. The nutrition education program covered all topics in the questionnaire. A calibrated weighing balance (Docbel Braun) was used to weigh the food sent in the school lunch box by parents for 5 continuous days. A crosssectional 24 hour dietary recall of the children's dietary pattern was recorded on interviewing the parents using standard tools and techniques[16]. The data was collected during mid-week for two consecutive days at the baseline stage and converted to nutrients using the food composition tables.[17] Percent adequacy of diets was computed using the recommended dietary allowances for Indians.[18]

The nutrition education program was conducted for parents from the experiment group.

Intervention

The education spanned basic nutrition for growth, healthy lunch box options, introducing new foods to children, controlling selection on unhealthy foods and a display of prepared lunch boxes and an age appropriate balanced meal. The education program was supported by a multimedia presentation, charts, photographs and take home material.

Follow up

After the follow up period of three months, the food behaviour and snack box quality was re-assessed for the experiment and control groups. Nutrition knowledge scores were reassessed for parents of the experiment group.

Results

The results of the study are compiled in Tables 1-4. Average nutrition knowledge scores showed similar nutrition knowledge between parents of the control and experiment groups. In the post-test data of the experiment group, there was a percentage improvement in the nutrition knowledge scores (33.56%); reduction in the number of wrong answers (-72.30%) and the number of unanswered questions (-46.43%) was seen (Table 1). This indicated the positive impact of nutrition education on the knowledge level of parents.

			Nutrition knowledge scores					
Group	n	Phase	Number	Number	Number left			
			correct	wrong	unanswered			
Control	35	Pre-Test	16.4	6.8	3.07			
Experiment	35	Pre-Test	17.37	6.5	2.8			
Experiment	35	Post-Test	23.2	1.8	1.5			
Improvement in knowledge scores			33.56	-72.30	-46.43			
in experimental g	roup (% <u>)</u>						

 Table 1: Nutrition knowledge scores of parents at baseline (experiment and control groups) and post-test level (experiment group)

Table	2:]	Nutrient	intake	profile o	f su	bjects	(n=20):	Mean	daily	intake,	percent	adequa	сy
				and con	ntrib	ution	from pa	acked l	unch				

Nutrients	Daily Nutrient Intake	Desirable Dietary Intake*	Percent Adequacy (Excess or deficit)	Nutrient contribution from packed lunch per day [mean of 5 days]
Protein (g)	25.6	20.1	+ 27.3	4.05 ± 1.86
Fat (g)	24.7	30.0	-17.7	4.39 ± 3.21
Energy (Kcal)	766	1350	-43.3	178.0 ± 69.9
Calcium (mg)	524	600	-12.7	36.0 ± 70.16
Iron (mg)	5.51	13.00	-57.62	1.11 ± 0.79
Carotene (µg)	784	3200	-75.50	162 ± 64.0
Thiamine (mg)	0.57	0.70	-18.57	0.12 ± 0.08
Riboflavin (mg)	1.19	0.80	+ 48.75	0.46 ± 0.03
Niacin (mg)	4.26	11.0	-61.27	1.06 ± 1.02
Vitamin C (mg)	18.07	40.00	-54.83	4.93 ± 3.99

*: Based on Recommended Dietary Allowance, (ICMR, 2010).

The nutrient intake profile of subjects is presented in Table 2. The table compiles data on mean daily nutrient intake determined by 24 hour recall, excess or deficit of nutrients calculated as percent and nutrient contribution from the packed lunch. The nutrient intake data indicates that the subjects were obtaining protein (27.3%) and riboflavin (48.8%) requirements for the day through the diet. However, there were deficits in the consumption of fat, energy, calcium, iron, carotene, thiamine, niacin and Vitamin C. The overall nutrient content of the diet indicated poor dietary diversity. The average nutrient content of the school lunch box of the sample indicated limited diversity of fruit and vegetables and a very limited contribution toward vitamins and minerals intake.

Table 3 indicates data on the frequency of lunch sent to school. The dishes were categorised into various food groups. Cereal components in a school lunch box need to have the attributes of being easy to pick and eat by the child. All school lunch boxes in both groups

Volume 1 Number 2, May - August 2013

always had a cereal based food present in it. In the post-test level, there was an increase in the consumption of chapatti (19%). The control group showed an increase in the consumption of poori (10.9%) and aloo parantha (11.1%). It is interesting to note the reduction in the consumption of processed noodles was greater in the experiment group (12.8%) compared to the control group (3.7%). Accompaniments are a significant part of the school lunch box to complement the cereal based foods present. The pre-test data showed a frequency of tomato+onion chutney, coconut chutney, jam, sugar, potato gravy and sambhar to be used often by both experiment and control groups. In the post-test level, the experiment group showed improved consumption of vegetable based accompaniments, viz. Tomato+onion chutney (10.7%), green leafy vegetables (6.2%), sautéed cabbage (6.2%), sautéed beetroot (6.2%). Honey was used in the experiment group in the post-test level (12.5%) and not used at all in the control group. Fruits and vegetables formed a part of the school lunch

		Contro	lGroup	Experiment		
Food Group	Foods	(n =	35)	Group	(n=35)	
-		Before	After	Before	After	
	Chapati	62.8	22.2	56	75	
	Vegetable Upma*			4	12.5	
	Plain Upma	22.8	27.7	16	31.2	
	Rotti	8.5	11.1	16		
	Poori	5.7	16.6		12.5	
	Dosa	68.5	11.1	88	43.7	
	Idli	45.7		56	43.7	
	Lime Rice	14.2	22.2	4	6.2	
C ereal based	Vegetable Pulao	17.1	5.5	12	6.2	
foods	Pongal		11.1		12.5	
	Kesari Bhat**	2.8	11.1	4	6.2	
	Noodles	31.4	27.7	44	31.2	
	Aloo Parantha***		11.1	4		
	Tomato and Onion chutney	14.2	16.6	8	18.7	
	Coconut chutney	40	11.1	37.1	34.5	
	Jam	20	16.6	20	31.5	
	Sugar	31.4		24	12.5	
	Potato Gravy	14.2	11.1		12.5	
	Green leafy veg				6.2	
Accompani-	Sautéed cabbage				6.2	
ments	Sautéed beetroot				6.2	
	Honey				12.5	
	Grapes	40	44.4	52	37.5	
	Apple	14.2	22.2	8	18.7	
Fruits and	Papaya		5.5	12	12.5	
vegetables	Sapodilla		16.6	16	37.5	
	Banana	11.4	16.6	16	37.5	
	Orange	8.5	11.1	16	6.2	
	Watermelon				18.7	
	Carrot	8.5		4	12.5	
	Bread Jam	60	88.8	16	37.5	
	Cake	20	16.6	20	6.2	
Snacks	Chips	40	33.3	64	75	
	Biscuits	14.2	33.3	88	12.5	
	Cashew		11.1		12.5	
Nuts	Pista	2.8			6.2	

Table 3: Frequency of dishes in the school lunch box (mean of 5 days, in %)

*: Breakfast dish prepared with wheat semolina. **: Sweet dish prepared with wheat semolina. ***: Unleavened bread stuffed with potato.

box in both experiment and control groups. Grapes, apples, banana and carrot formed regular inclusions into the school lunch box. In the post-test level, there was an increase in the inclusion of sapodilla (21.5%), banana (21.5%), watermelon (18.7%) and carrot (8.5%) in the experiment group. In the control group, there was an increase in papaya (5.5%) and sapodilla (16.6%) consumption. However there was a limited diversity of fruit and vegetable consumption in the control group when compared to the experiment group. Snacks form the core part of the school lunch box.

There was a decrease in the inclusion of cakes in the experiment group (13.8%), biscuits (12.5%) and an inclusion of cashew nuts (12.5%) and pista (6.2%).

The repetitive pattern of dishes in school lunch over a duration of 5 days was studied to assess the impact of nutrition education on dietary diversification of children. The traditional family diet forms part of the child's diet from the pre-school days. There is a trend of repetition of a few standard food items often used in families across the study. There was a

Nutrient	Control group (n=35)			Experiment group (n=35)		
	Pre-test	Post-test	Change	Pre-test	Post-test	Change
Protein (g)	3.9	2.53	-1.37	3.14	3.41	0.27
Fat (g)	3.1	4.2	1.1	3.08	2.7	-0.38
Energy (Kcal.)	150.3	154.2	3.9	131.8	130.8	-1.0
Calcium (mg)	34.7	35.9	1.2	20.1	22.8	2.7
Iron (mg)	1.6	2.2	0.6	3.4	4.8	1.4
Carotene (µg)	68.7	43.9	-24.8	68.1	78.01	9.91
Thiamine (mg)	0.092	0.18	0.08	0.50	0.800	0.30
Riboflavin (mg)	0.03	0.048	0.02	0.31	1.1	0.79
Niacin (mg)	0.57	0.50	-0.07	0.34	0.86	0.52
Vitamin C (mg)	1.46	1.29	-0.17	2.4	4.3	1.9

Table 4: Average daily nutrient intake from lunch box

repetition in the consumption of dosa and processed noodles in the control group (2.5 and 2.3 times per week), however there was no repetition in the consumption of other cereal products viz. chapatti, breakfast cereal, upma and mixed rice. There was also a consumption of poori in the post-test (2 times per week) which was not subscribed to in the pre-test phase. The cereals subscribed were largely rich in fat and refined flours. The experiment group showed increase in repetition of chapati and idli (2.5 and 2 times per week). Although there was a subscription to processed noodles in the pre-test phase (2 times per week), in the posttest there was no subscription. The experiment group subscribed to more complex carbohydrate and nutritious cereal options in the post-test phase. Coconut chutney was popular accompaniment in both pre and posttest phases of both control and experiment group. There was a subscription to potato gravy and honey (2 and 3 times per week) in the experiment group, which was not subscribed to by the control group. The subscription to grapes remained the same (2 times per week) across pre and post-test phases for both the experiment and control groups.

There was a reduction in the subscription to banana in the control group (from 3 times per week to twice a week) and an increase in the experiment group (from 2 to 2.5 times a week). Apple consumption from 3 times per week from the pre-test reduced to nil in post test phase of the control group. There was a subscription to watermelon (3) papaya (2) and carrot (2) on a weekly basis in the post-test of the experiment group, which was not subscribed to in the pre-test phase. The posttest phase showed an increase in the consumption of bread with the control group (3.2 times per week) but there was no subscription to the snack by the experiment group. There was an increase in the consumption of potato chips from pre-test (3.5) to post-test (5) in the control group and a decrease from (3.2) to (2) in post-test of experiment group.

The average daily nutrient intake of children in the test and control groups changed in the post-test phase. There was decrease in protein (-1.37 grams), carotene (-24.8 µg), niacin (-0.07 mg) and Vitamin C (-0.17 mg). The post-test phase data of the experiment group showed improvement in calcium (2.7 mg), iron (1.4 mg), carotene (9.91 μ g), thiamin (0.30 mg), riboflavin (0.79 mg), niacin (0.53 mg) and Vitamin C (1.9 mg). The results indicate improvement in micronutrient intake achieved by better dietary intake of the children in the experiment group. The control group showed poor dietary diversity reflected by the reduced micronutrient intake in the post-test phase (Table 4).

Discussion

The results of the study indicate that parents do have an existing knowledge base of nutrition needs for their children. However, this knowledge is not comprehensive in providing children with a balanced diet. The baseline data indicated the adequacy of only protein and riboflavin (Table 2). The data of deficient nutrients showed a sharp need for overall improvement of nutrition in the children. The nutrient profile indicated poor consumption of energy rich foods, fruits, vegetables and dairy products. An inadequacy of nutrition quality of school meals was widely seen. A study of school children in a public school from USA showed snack profiles rich in saturated fats and sodium but lacking in all other nutrients indicating excessive consumption of unhealthy foods and processed snacks.[19]

The frequency of selecting more healthy school lunch options was seen in the post-test experiment group. Similar findings were established in a study[20], where after comprehensive nutrition education program to parents, there was an improvement in experiment group selecting healthy snacks (25.7%) and a decline in the control group (18.2%). There is a positive impact of nutrition knowledge of parents with food choices given to their children[21]. The most easily impacted food choices in children by nutrition education programs are that of fruit and vegetable consumption. Data seen from other studies[22-23] indicates improved fruit and vegetable consumption due to nutrition education of parents. The improvement in micronutrient consumption in the experiment group of the present study is indicative of better fruit and vegetable selection. It is essential to establish a preference for fruit and vegetable in pre-school children to form habitual food behaviour. As children grow older and are empowered to make school snack choices outside of home, they tend to skip on fruit and vegetables with emphasis on progressive increase in the grade in which they are studying.[24] Food related parenting practices which were encouraged in the education program of the study, have had a positive impact on the nutrient adequacy of the children's lunch boxes and also their food choices. A study from elementary schools in Belgium showed a similar impact, where behaviour modification strategies based on knowledge and proper communication showed by parents to children, showed improved food behaviour of children.[25]

Conclusion

The study showed that parents' nutrition knowledge is incomplete if they are not exposed to structured nutrition education programs. The inadequacy in total nutrients is evident and the presence of only protein and riboflavin in excess at the baseline indicates that children are still relying only on milk as a major food in their diet. The food frequency has a clear indication of preference of processed noodles in both pre and post-test. Children prefer accompaniments which are sweeter tasting than bland or spiced; jam and sugar form an integral component of children's food preference. Grapes, apples, bananas form popular fruit choices, however raw vegetables haven't yet been accepted as a regular inclusion into the lunch boxes. There is a predisposition to select foods rich in trans fats viz. cakes and biscuits. The reduction of the same in the experiment group at the post-test level indicates positive impact of the nutrition education to the parents. The overall improvement in nutrient profile indicates good dietary diversity in the experiment group, with improved micronutrient consumption. However, the group still needs to address better energy intake for growth. The control group in the post-test shows poor dietary diversity, high fat intake and has a dietary pattern which is conducive to support the onset of overweight and obesity in the children. Nutrition education to parents was found to have a positive impact on the nutrient profile of their children's school lunch boxes.

References

- 1. O'Brien M, Nader PR, Houts RM, Bradley R, Friedman SL, Belsky J, *et al.* The ecology of childhood overweight: A 12-year longitudinal analysis. *Int J Obes.* 2007; 31(9): 1469-78.
- Birch LL, Ventura AK. Preventing childhood obesity: what works? *Int J Obes*. 2009; 33(S): S74-81.
- 3. Branta C, Haubenstricker J, Seefeldt V. Age changes in motor skills during childhood and

adolescence. *Exer Sport Sci Rev.* 1984; 12:467-520.

- 4. Power TG, Bindler RC, Goetz S, Daratha KB. Obesity prevention in the early adolescence: student, parent, and teacher views. *J Sc Health*. 2010; 80: 13–19.
- 5. Hart KH, Herriot A, Bishop JA, Truby H. Promoting healthy diet and exercise patterns amongst primary school children: a qualitative investigation of parental perspectives. *J Hum Nutr Diet*. 2003; 16: 89-96.
- Carnell S, Cooke L, Cheng R, Robbins A, Wardle J. Parental feeding behaviours and motivations. A qualitative study in mothers of UK pre-schoolers. *Appetite*. 2011; 57(3): 665-73.
- Heim S, Stang J, Ireland M. A garden pilot project enhances fruit and vegetable consumption among children. J Am Diet Assoc. 2009; 109: 1220-26.
- Davis EM, Cullen KW, Watson KB, Konarik M, Radcliffe J. A fresh fruit and vegetable program involves high school students' consumption of fresh produce. J Am Diet Assoc. 2009; 109: 1227-31.
- 9. Perry CL, Bishop DB, Taylor GL, Davis M, Story M, Gray C, *et al*. A randomized school trial of environmental strategies to encourage fruit and vegetable consumption among children. *Health Edu Behav*. 2004; 31: 65-76.
- Buchanan E. Nutrition knowledge of parents and packed lunch items in their pre-schoolers lunches. Poster abstract. J Nutr Edu Behav. 2012; 44(4S):S55.
- 11. Devadas RP. Nutrition education in India-Impact on knowledge, behaviour and health status of students. *J Nutr Edu Behav*. 1986; 18(3): 111-16.
- 12. Kirks BA, Hendricks DG, Wyse BW. Parent involvement in nutrition education for primary grade students. *J Nutr Edu Behav*. 1982; 14(4): 137-140.
- 13. Katz DL, Katz CS, True JA, Reynolds J, Njike V, Walter J, *et al*. Healthful food choices to elementary school students and their parents: The nutrition detectives program. *J Sc Health*. 2011; 81(1): 21-8.
- 14. Vereecken C and Maes L. Young children's dietary habits and associations with the

mother's nutrition knowledge and attitudes. *Appetite*. 2010; 54(1): 44-51.

- 15. Skouteris H, McCabe M, Swinburn B, Newgreen V, Sacher P, Chadwick P. Parental influence and obesity prevention in pre-schoolers: a systematic review of interventions. *Obesity Reviews*. 2011; 12(5): 315-28.
- Thimmayamma BVS, Rau P, Damayanti K. Dietary assessment as part of nutritional status. In, 'Text book of Human nutrition'. III Edn. Eds. Bamji MS, Krishnaswami K, Brahmam GNV. New Delhi: Oxford and IBH Publishing Co.; 2009, 113-129.
- Gopalan C, Rama Sastri BV, Balasubramanian SC, Narasinga Rao BS, Deosthale YG and Pant KC. Nutritive value of Indian Foods. Hyderabad: National Institute of Nutrition, Indian Council of Medical Research;1996.
- ICMR. Nutrient requirements and recommended dietary allowances for Indians. A report of the expert group of the Indian Council of Medical Research. Hyderabad: National Institute of Nutrition; 2010.
- 19. Clark MA and Fox MK. Nutritional quality of the diets of US public school children and the role of the school meal programs. *J Am Diet Assoc.* 2009; 109(2 S): S44-56.
- 20. Matvienko O. Impact of a nutrition education curriculum on snack choices of children ages six and seven years. *J Nutr Edu Behav*. 2007; 39(5): 281-85.
- 21. Prelip M, Kinsler J, Thai CL, Erausquin JT, Slusser W. Evaluation of a school-based multicomponent nutrition education program to improve young children's fruit and vegetable consumption. *J Nutr Edu Behav*. 2012; 44(4): 310-8.
- 22. Parmer SM, Salisbury-Glennon J, Shannon D, Struempler B. School gardens: an experiential learning approach for a nutrition education program to increase fruit and vegetable knowledge, preference, and consumption among second-grade students. J Nutr Edu Behav. 2009; 41(3): 212-7.
- 23. De Bock F, Breitenstein L, Fischer JE. Positive impact of a pre-school-based nutritional intervention on children's fruit and vegetable intake: results of a cluster-randomized trial.

Public Health Nutr. 2012; 15(3): 466-75.

- 24. Cullen KW, Eagan J, Baranowski T, Owens E, de Moor C. Effect of a la carte and snack bar foods at school on children's lunchtime intake of fruits and vegetables. *J Am Diet Assoc.* 2000; 100(12): 1482-6.
- 25. Vereecken C, Legiest E, De Bourdeaudhuij I, Maes L. Associations Between General Parenting Styles and Specific Food-Related Parenting Practices and Children's Food Consumption. *Amer J of Health Promo*. 2009; 23(4): 233-40.

Subscription Form

I want to renew/subscribe to international class journal **"International Journal of Food Nutrition and Dietetics"** of Red Flower Publication Pvt. Ltd.

Subscription Rates:

• India: Institutional: Rs.38000, Individual: Rs.1000, Life membership (10 years only for individulas) Rs.5000.

• All other countries: \$900

Name and complete address (in capitals):

Payment detail: Demand Draft No. Date of DD Amount paid Rs./USD

1. Advance payment required by Demand Draft payable to Red Flower Publicaion Pvt. Ltd. payable at Delhi.

- 2. Cancellation not allowed except for duplicate payment.
- 3. Agents allowed 10% discount.
- 4. Claim must be made within six months from issue date.

Mail all orders to **Red Flower Publication Pvt. Ltd.** 48/41-42, DSIDC, Pocket-II, Mayur Vihar Phase-I, Delhi - 110 091 (India) Tel: 91-11-22754205, Fax: 91-11-22754205 E-mail: redflowerppl@vsnl.net, redflowerppl@gmail.com Website: www.rfppl.com

Fat, Hyperlipidemia and Hypercholesterolemia in Diabetic Peripheral Neuropathy

Kumar Senthil P.*, Adhikari Prabha**, Jeganathan***

Abstract

This letter to editor was aimed at expanding the interprofessional understanding on the role of nutritioninduced hematological adaptations such as hyperlipidemia and hypercholesterolemia secondary to fat intake in diet and nutrition in diabetic peripheral neuropathy (DPN). Hypercholesterolemia induced genetic variation in tumor necrosis factor (TNF) receptor 2 gene, High-fat diet fed streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats not only developed peripheral neuropathy faster than their controls[2,3] but also associated disorders like cholesterolinduced gall bladder stones[4] and many intervention studies had shown efficacy for controlling hyperlipidemia and co-existing mechanical ad thermal allodynia in experimental models of DPN. Hyperlipidemia is thus to be regarded as a new therapeutic target for DPN.

Keywords: Food; Nutrition; Diet; Hyperlipidemia; Hypercholesterolemia; Diabetic neuropathy.

Dear Sir,

This letter to editor wishes the International Journal of Nutrition and Food Sciences on its maiden journey to scientific excellence to bridge the knowledge-practice gap in the era of scientific evidence-informed practice, education, research and administration both in health and in disease. The authors wish to highlight an example of interprofessional understanding on the role of nutrition-induced adaptations hematological such as hyperlipidemia and hypercholesterolemia secondary to fat intake in diet and nutrition in diabetic peripheral neuropathy (DPN).

Genetic influence was demonstrated by findings of Benjafield *et al*[1] who studied 357

well-characterized white patients and 183 healthy control subjects, and demonstrated genetic variation in tumor necrosis factor (TNF) receptor 2 gene (TNFRSF1B) and its association with hypercholesterolemia as shown by CA16 allele levels tracking with elevation plasma HDL cholesterol.

High-fat diet fed streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats not only developed peripheral neuropathy faster than their controls [2,3] but also associated disorders like cholesterolinduced gall bladder stones[4] and many intervention studies on menhaden oil[5] and Emblica officinalis Gaertn (Amla)[6] had shown efficacy for controlling hyperlipidemia and co-existing mechanical ad thermal allodynia in experimental models of DPN.

Vincent *et al*[7] recommended hyperlipidemia to be a new therapeutic target for DPN since it was shown by recent data that established dyslipidemia as a significant contributor to the development of diabetic neuropathy. The author explained oxidative stress mechanisms for metabolic imbalances, which mutually included hyperglycemia and hyperlipidemia, in dorsal root ganglia (DRG) of sensory neurons.

Author's affiliation: *Founder-President, Academy of Orthopaedic Manual Physical Therapists (AOMPT)TM, Freelancer Physiotherapist and private practitioner, Mangalore, India, **Professor, Department of Medicine, ***Professor, Department of Physiology, Kasturba Medical College (Manipal University), Mangalore, India.

Corresponding Author: Senthil P. Kumar, Founder-President, Academy of Orthopaedic Manual Physical Therapists (AOMPT)[™], Freelancer Physiotherapist and private practitioner, Mangalore, India.

E-mail: senthilparamasivamkumar@gmail.com

⁽Received on 26.04.2013 ; Accepted on 11.06.2013)

References

- Benjafield AV, Glenn CL, Wang XL, Colagiuri S, Morris BJ. TNFRSF1B in genetic predisposition to clinical neuropathy and effect on HDL cholesterol and glycosylated hemoglobin in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 2001; 24(4): 753-7.
- 2. Guilford BL, Ryals JM, Wright DE. Phenotypic changes in diabetic neuropathy induced by a high-fat diet in diabetic C57BL/6 mice. *Exp Diabetes Res.* 2011; 2011: 848307.
- 3. Obrosova IG, Ilnytska O, Lyzogubov VV, Pavlov IA, Mashtalir N, Nadler JL, *et al*. Highfat diet induced neuropathy of pre-diabetes and obesity: effects of "healthy" diet and aldose reductase inhibition. *Diabetes*. 2007; 56(10): 2598-608.
- 4. Tanno N, Koizumi M, Goto Y. The relationship between cholelithiasis and diabetes mellitus:

discussion of age, obesity, hyperlipidemia and neuropathy. *Tohoku J Exp Med*. 1988; 154(1): 11-20.

- Coppey LJ, Holmes A, Davidson EP, Yorek MA. Partial replacement with menhaden oil improves peripheral neuropathy in high-fat-fed low-dose streptozotocin type 2 diabetic rat. J Nutr Metab. 2012; 2012: 950517.
- Kumar NP, Annamalai AR, Thakur RS. Antinociceptive property of EmblicaofficinalisGaertn (Amla) in high fat diet-fed/low dose streptozotocin induced diabetic neuropathy in rats. *Indian J Exp Biol*. 2009; 47(9): 737-42.
- 7. Vincent AM, Hinder LM, Pop-Busui R, Feldman EL. Hyperlipidemia: a new therapeutic target for diabetic neuropathy. *J Peripher Nerv Syst.* 2009; 14(4): 257-67.

Red Flower Publication Pvt. Ltd,

CAPTURE YOUR MARKET

For advertising in this journal

Please contact:

International print and online display advertising sales

E-mail: redflowerppl@vsnl.net / tel: +91 11 22754205

Recruitment and Classified Advertising

E-mail: redflowerppl@vsnl.net / tel: +91 11 22754205

International Journal of Food Nutrition and Dietetics

Library Recommendation Form

If you would like to recommend this journal to your library, simply complete the form below and return it to us. Please type or print the information clearly. We will forward a sample copy to your library, along with this recommendation card.

Please send a sample copy to:

Name of Librarian Library Address of Library

Recommended by:

Your Name/ Title Department Address

Dear Librarian,

I would like to recommend that your library subscribe to the **International Journal of Food Nutrition and Dietetics**. I believe the major future uses of the journal for your library would be:

- 1. As useful information for members of my specialty.
- 2. As an excellent research aid.
- 3. As an invaluable student resource.
- 4. I have a personal subscription and understand and appreciate the value an institutional subscription would mean to our staff.
- 5. Other

Should the journal you're reading right now be a part of your University or institution's library? To have a free sample sent to your librarian, simply fill out and mail this today!

Stock Manager

Red Flower Publication Pvt. Ltd.

48/41-42, DSIDC, Pocket-II, Mayur Vihar, Phase-I

Delhi - 110 091 (India)

Tel: 91-11-65270068, 22754205, Fax: 91-11-22754205

 $E\text{-mail: } redflowerppl@gmail.com, \ redflowerppl@vsnl.net$

Website: www.rfppl.com

Indian Journal of Trauma and Emergency Pediatrics

Handsome offer for Indian Journal of Emergency Pediatrics subscribers

Subscribe **Indian Journal of Trauma and Emergency Pediatrics** and get any one book or both books absolutely free worth Rs.400/-.

Offer and Subsctription detail

Individual Subscriber One year: Rs.1000/- (select any one book to receive absolutely free) Life membership (valid for 10 years): Rs.5000/- (get both books absolutely free)

Books free for Subscribers of **Indian Journal of Trauma and Emergency Pediatrics.** Please select as per your interest. So, dont' wait and order it now.

Please note the offer is valid till stock last.

CHILD INTELLIGENCE By Dr. Rajesh Shukla ISBN: 81-901846-1-X, Pb, vi+141 Pages Rs.150/-, US\$50/-Published by World Information Syndicate

PEDIATRICS COMPANION By **Dr. Rajesh Shukla** ISBN: 81-901846-0-1, Hb, VIII+392 Pages Rs.250/-, US\$50 Published by **World Information Syndicate**

Order from **Red Flower Publication Pvt. Ltd.** 48/41-42, DSIDC, Pocket-II, Mayur Vihar, Phase-I Delhi - 110 091 (India) Tel: 91-11-65270068, 22754205, Fax: 91-11-22754205 E-mail: redflowerppl@gmail.com, redflowerppl@vsnl.net Website: www.rfppl.com Manuscripts must be prepared in accordance with "Uniform requirements for Manuscripts submitted to Biomedical Journal" developed by international committee of medical Journal Editors.

Types of Manuscripts and Limits

Original articles: Up to 3000 words excluding references and abstract and up to 10 references.

Original articles: Up to 2500 words excluding references and abstract and up to 10 references.

Case reports: Up to 1000 words excluding references and abstract and up to 10 references.

Online Submission of the Manuscripts

Articles can also be submitted online from http:// www.rfppl.com (currently send your articles through e-mail attachments)

I) First Page File: Prepare the title page, covering letter, acknowledgement, etc. using a word processor program. All information which can reveal your identity should be here. use text/rtf/doc/PDF files. Do not zip the files.

2) Article file: The main text of the article, beginning from Abstract till References (including tables) should be in this file. Do not include any information (such as acknowledgement, your name in page headers, etc.) in this file. Use text/rtf/doc/PDF files. Do not zip the files. Limit the file size to 400 kb. Do not incorporate images in the file. If file size is large, graphs can be submitted as images separately without incorporating them in the article file to reduce the size of the file.

3) Images: Submit good quality color images. Each image should be less than 100 kb in size. Size of the image can be reduced by decreasing the actual height and width of the images (keep up to 400 pixels or 3 inches). All image formats (jpeg, tiff, gif, bmp, png, eps etc.) are acceptable; jpeg is most suitable.

Legends: Legends for the figures/images should be included at the end of the article file.

If the manuscript is submitted online, the contributors' form and copyright transfer form has to be submitted in original with the signatures of all the contributors within two weeks from submission. Hard copies of the images (3 sets), for articles submitted online, should be sent to the journal office at the time of submission of a revised manuscript. Editorial office: **Red Flower Publication Pvt. Ltd.**, **48/41-42**, **DSIDC**, **Pocket-II**, **Mayur Vihar Phase-I**, **Delhi – 110 091**, **India**, **Phone: 91-11-22754205**, **Fax: 91-11-22754205**, **E-mail: redflowerppl@vsnl.net**.

Preparation of the Manuscript

The text of observational and experimental articles should be divided into sections with the headings: Introduction, Methods, Results, Discussion, References, Tables, Figures, Figure legends, and Acknowledgment. Do not make subheadings in these sections.

Title Page

The title page should carry

- 1) Type of manuscript (e.g. Original article, Review article, Case Report)
- 2) The title of the article, which should be concise, but informative;
- 3) Running title or short title not more than 50 characters;
- The name by which each contributor is known (Last name, First name and initials of middle name), with his or her highest academic degree(s) and institutional affiliation;
- The name of the department(s) and institution(s) to which the work should be attributed;
- 6) The name, address, phone numbers, facsimile numbers and e-mail address of the contributor responsible for correspondence about the manuscript;
- The total number of pages, total number of photographs and word counts separately for abstract and for the text (excluding the references and abstract);
- 8) Source(s) of support in the form of grants, equipment, drugs, or all of these;
- 9) Acknowledgement, if any; and
- If the manuscript was presented as part at a meeting, the organization, place, and exact date on which it was read.

Abstract Page

The second page should carry the full title of the manuscript and an abstract (of no more than 150 words for case reports, brief reports and 250 words for original articles). The abstract should be structured and state the Context (Background), Aims, Settings and Design, Methods and Material, Statistical analysis used, Results and Conclusions. Below the abstract should provide 3 to 10 keywords.

Introduction

State the background of the study and purpose of thestudy and summarize the rationale for the study or observation.

Methods

The methods section should include only information that was available at the time the plan or protocol for the study was written such as study approach, design, type of sample, sample size, sampling technique, setting of the study, description of data collection tools and methods; all information obtained during the conduct of the study belongs in the Results section. Reports of randomized clinical trials should be based on the CONSORT Statement (http://www.consortstatement.org). When reporting experiments on human subjects, indicate whether the procedures followed were in accordance with the ethical standards of the responsible committee on human experimentation (institutional or regional) and with the Helsinki Declaration of 1975, as revised in 2000 (available at http:// /www.wma.net/e/policy/l 7-c_e.html).

Results

Present your results in logical sequence in the text, tables, and illustrations, giving the main or most important findings first. Do not repeat in the text all the data in the tables or illustrations; emphasize or summarize only important observations. Extra or supplementary materials and technical details can be placed in an appendix where it will be accessible but will not interrupt the flow of the text; alternatively, it can be published only in the electronic version of the journal.

Discussion

Include summary of key findings (primary outcome measures, secondary outcome measures, results as they relate to a prior hypothesis); Strengths and limitations of the study (study question, study design, data collection, analysis and interpretation); Interpretation and implications in the context of the totality of evidence (is there a systematic review to refer to, if not, could one be reasonably done here and now?, what this study adds to the available evidence, effects on patient care and health policy, possible mechanisms); Controversies raised by this study; and Future research directions (for this particular research collaboration, underlying mechanisms, clinical research). Do not repeat in detail data or other material given in the Introduction or the Results section.

References

List references in alphabetical order. Each listed reference should be cited in text (not in alphabetic order), and each text citation should be listed in the References section. Identify references in text, tables, and legends by Arabic numerals in square bracket (e.g. [10]). Please refer to ICMJE Guidelines (http://www.nlm.nih.gov/ bsd/uniform_requirements.html) for more examples.

Standard journal article

[1] Flink H, Tegelberg Å, Thörn M, Lagerlöf F. Effect of oral iron supplementation on unstimulated salivary flow rate: A randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled trial. J Oral Pathol Med 2006;35:540-7.

[2] Twetman S, Axelsson S, Dahlgren H, Holm AK, Källestål C, Lagerlöf F, et al. Caries-preventive effect of fluoride toothpaste: A systematic review. Acta Odontol Scand 2003;61:347-55.

Article in supplement or special issue

[3] Fleischer W, Reimer K. Povidone iodine antisepsis. State of the art. Dermatology 1997;195 Suppl 2:3-9.

Corporate (collective) author

[4] American Academy of Periodontology. Sonic and ultrasonic scalers in periodontics. J Periodontol 2000;71:1792-801.

Unpublished article

[5] Garoushi S, Lassila LV, Tezvergil A, Vallittu PK. Static and fatigue compression test for particulate filler composite resin with fiber-reinforced composite substructure. Dent Mater 2006.

Personal author(s)

[6] Hosmer D, Lemeshow S. Applied logistic regression, 2 edn. New York: Wiley-Interscience; 2000.

Chapter in book

[7] Nauntofte B, Tenovuo J, Lagerlöf F. Secretion and composition of saliva. In: Fejerskov O, Kidd EAM, editors. Dental caries: The disease and its clinical management. Oxford: Blackwell Munksgaard; 2003. p. 7-27.

No author given

[8] World Health Organization. Oral health surveys basic methods, 4 edn. Geneva: World Health Organization; 1997.

Reference from electronic media

[9] National Statistics Online – Trends in suicide by method in England and Wales, 1979-2001. www.statistics.gov.uk/downloads/theme_health/HSQ 20.pdf (accessed Jan 24, 2005): 7-18. Only verified references against the original documents should be cited. Authors are responsible for the accuracy and completeness of their references and for correct text citation. The number of reference should be kept limited to 20 in case of major communications and 10 for short communications.

More information about other reference types is available at www.nlm.nih.gov/bsd/uniform_ requirements.html, but observes some minor deviations (no full stop after journal title, no issue or date after volume, etc).

International Journal of Food, Nutrition and Dietetics

Tables

Tables should be self-explanatory and should not duplicate textual material.

Tables with more than 10 columns and 25 rows are not acceptable.

Number tables, in Arabic numerals, consecutively in the order of their first citation in the text and supply a brief title for each.

Explain in footnotes all non-standard abbreviations that are used in each table.

For footnotes use the following symbols, in this sequence: *, \P , †, ‡‡,

Illustrations (Figures)

Graphics files are welcome if supplied as Tiff, EPS, or PowerPoint files of minimum 1200x1600 pixel size. The minimum line weight for line art is 0.5 point for optimal printing.

When possible, please place symbol legends below the figure instead of to the side.

Original color figures can be printed in color at the editor's and publisher's discretion provided the author agrees to pay

Type or print out legends (maximum 40 words, excluding the credit line) for illustrations using double spacing, with Arabic numerals corresponding to the illustrations.

Sending a revised manuscript

While submitting a revised manuscript, contributors are requested to include, along with single copy of the final revised manuscript, a photocopy of the revised manuscript with the changes underlined in red and copy of the comments with the point to point clarification to each comment. The manuscript number should be written on each of these documents. If the manuscript is submitted online, the contributors' form and copyright transfer form has to be submitted in original with the signatures of all the contributors within two weeks of submission. Hard copies of images should be sent to the office of the journal. There is no need to send printed manuscript for articles submitted online.

Reprints

Journal provides no free printed reprints, however a author copy is sent to the main author and additional copies are available on payment (ask to the journal office).

Copyrights

The whole of the literary matter in the journal is copyright and cannot be reproduced without the written permission.

Declaration

A declaration should be submitted stating that the manuscript represents valid work and that neither this manuscript nor one with substantially similar content under the present authorship has been published or is being considered for publication elsewhere and the authorship of this article will not be contested by any one whose name (s) is/are not listed here, and that the order of authorship as placed in the manuscript is final and accepted by the co-authors. Declarations should be signed by all the authors in the order in which they are mentioned in the original manuscript. Matters appearing in the Journal are covered by copyright but no objection will be made to their reproduction provided permission is obtained from the Editor prior to publication and due acknowledgment of the source is made.

Abbreviations

Standard abbreviations should be used and be spelt out when first used in the text. Abbreviations should not be used in the title or abstract.

Checklist

- Manuscript Title
- Covering letter: Signed by all contributors
- Previous publication/ presentations mentioned Source of funding mentioned
- Conflicts of interest disclosed

Authors

- Middle name initials provided.
- Author for correspondence, with e-mail address provided.
- Number of contributors restricted as per the instructions
- Identity not revealed in paper except title page (e.g. name of the institute in Methods, citing previous study as 'our study')

Presentation and Format

- Double spacing
- Margins 2.5 cm from all four sides
- Title page contains all the desired information. Running title provided (not more than 50 characters)
- Abstract page contains the full title of the manuscript
- Abstract provided: Structured abstract provided for an original article.
- Key words provided (three or more)
- Introduction of 75-100 words

- Headings in title case (not ALL CAPITALS). References cited in square brackets
- References according to the journal's instructions

Language and grammar

- Uniformly American English
- Abbreviations spelt out in full for the first time. Numerals from 1 to 10 spelt out
- Numerals at the beginning of the sentence spelt out

Tables and figures

• No repetition of data in tables and graphs and in text.

- Actual numbers from which graphs drawn, provided.
- Figures necessary and of good quality (color)
- Table and figure numbers in Arabic letters (not Roman).
- Labels pasted on back of the photographs (no names written)
- Figure legends provided (not more than 40 words)
- Patients' privacy maintained, (if not permission taken)
- Credit note for borrowed figures/tables provided

Manuscript provided on a CDROM (with double spacing)

Submitting the Manuscript

- Is the journal editor's contact information current?
- Is a cover letter included with the manuscript? Does the letter
- 1. Include the author's postal address, e-mail address, telephone number, and fax number for future correspondence?
- 2. State that the manuscript is original, not previously published, and not under concurrent consideration elsewhere?
- 3. Inform the journal editor of the existence of any similar published manuscripts written by the author?
- 4. Mention any supplemental material you are submitting for the online version of your article?

Contributors' Form (to be modified as applicable and one signed copy attached with the manuscript)